HMAS WYATT EARP
By John Ellis
John Ellis joined the RAN College in 1953, this was followed by the then traditional training in HMAS Swan, Britannia RN College Dartmouth and the RN Engineering College Manadon. He served in HMA Ships Melbourne, Sydney, Perth and Hobart. Service ashore included Garden Island Dockyard and the Engineering School at HMAS Cerberus. PNF service was followed by RANR service with the Sydney Port Division. Interest in the Antarctic developed from a Christmas gift in 1950 of ‘South With Scott’ by E.R.G.R. Evans. He saw his first icebergs whilst sailing from Hobart to Rio in HM Bark Endeavour replica in 2002. Three years later he sailed to the Ross Sea in an icebreaker and visited the huts used by Scott, Shackleton and Borchgrevink. He plans to visit Mawson’s hut in February 2012.

Anzac, Sydney, Perth – these are some of the familiar names of HMA ships with the origins of the names well known on every mess-deck. But who has heard of HMAS Wyatt Earp? Pull up a bollard and I’ll tell you a story. 

Australia has had an interest in the Antarctic since the early 19th century. Initially, this interest was commercial when Sydney-based sealers ventured into Antarctic waters. Such voyages led to the discovery of Macquarie Island by Frederick Hasselburgh in 1810. Several voyages of discovery and science used Sydney, Melbourne and Hobart as support ports during the 19th century. Those who did land went ashore on islands off the Antarctic coast. The Royal Society of Victoria made an unsuccessful attempt to stimulate interest in the Antarctic in 1886. The first party to land on the Antarctic mainland was led by Henrik Bull, a Norwegian who was living in Melbourne in the 1890s. His party included another Norwegian, Carstens Brochgrevink, who had lived in Australia since 1888. Bull’s party landed at Cape Adare in January 1895. Borchgrevink returned to Australia, determined to lead a party to winter over at Cape Adare. His expedition was sponsored by a British magazine publisher on the condition it be named the British Antarctic Expedition. Borchgrevink’s party of nine included Louis Bernacchi, a scientist from Tasmania, who later joined Commander Scott’s 1901-4 expedition. The party landed in January 1899 and departed a year later, the first to winter over ashore in Antarctica. Their hut remains at Cape Adare with a few open days each season.

Ernest Shackleton’s expedition of 1907-09 included four from Australia. Professor Edgeworth David, Dr Douglas Mawson and Leo Cotton were some of the scientific staff and Bertram Armytage was in charge of the ponies. David, Mawson and MacKay, a Scot, sledged to the South Magnetic Pole in 1909 while Shackleton strove unsuccessfully for the South Pole. Captain Scott returned to Antarctica in 1911 for his second attempt to reach the South Pole. His scientific party included two Australians, Griffith Taylor and Frank Debenham. Mawson’s experience encouraged him to mount his own expedition. In 1911 he sailed from Hobart and established two bases along the coast due south of Australia to support sledging expeditions to the east, south and west of each base. He returned to Adelaide in 1913 having made a significant contribution to knowledge of Antarctica.

Mawson was knighted for his achievements and returned to the Antarctic with two voyages in 1929-30 and 1930-31. The voyages coasted Antarctica and touched at Macquarie Island, Heard Island and the Kerguelen Islands. On Proclamation Island Mawson claimed, in the name of King George V, all lands between longitudes 47º E and 173º E and south of latitude 65º S. A British Order-in-Council of 1933 acknowledged this claim, based on territory between 45º E and 160º E and south of latitude 60º S, but excluding Adélie Land, the sliver of the French claim. The Order placed the region under the control of Australia. It was enacted later in 1933 and proclaimed in 1936. 

The Depression, then World War II precluded any further work by Mawson in Antarctica. In October 1945 he began lobbying the Federal Government to continue research and exploration within the territory he had claimed in 1930. He warned that should Australia fail to do so, the United States would dominate future events in the Antarctic, even though they had not made a territorial claim. He also proposed that Australia should lay claim to Heard Island. Although sighted in 1835, it was named after Captain John Heard, an American sealer en route from Boston to Melbourne in 1853. Even so, there had been no official claim.

From Mawson’s post-war encouragement a planning committee was formed in December 1946. Apart from planning a voyage to Antarctica to seek a suitable site for a future base, it was agreed that a formal claim should be made for Heard Island. The committee approached the Australian Commonwealth Naval Board to discuss suitable ships, one to visit the Antarctic continent and the other to visit Heard Island. 

Which ships were available and also suitable? Six tank landing ships, (LSTs), had been built in Scotland and Canada for wartime service in the RAN. Three remained in service after the war and LST 3201 was selected to sail to Macquarie Island and Heard Island. Mawson was aware of the merits of wooden vessels in the ice. He lived in Adelaide and remembered a wooden fishing vessel, then on loan to the Sea Scouts in Adelaide. She was built in Norway in 1919 as MV Farnefjord for herring fishing. She was sail assisted with a fore and aft rig of two triangular sails and two headsails. Lincoln Ellsworth, an American explorer, purchased her in 1933 to support his four voyages of exploration in the Antarctic. One of Ellsworth’s goals was to make the first aerial crossing of Antarctica. Now, Wyatt Earp, the fabled marshal of Dodge City, was Ellsworth’s boyhood hero and distant relative, and so, Farnefjord was renamed Wyatt Earp. 

His work completed in 1939, Ellsworth gave his ship to his expedition aviator, the Australian, Sir Hubert Wilkins. Seeing the opportunity of a bargain, Wilkins sold her to the Australian government for £4,400 in October 1939. She was commissioned into the RAN as HMAS Wongala to carry stores and ammunition around the coast for a year. Most of her war service was as examinations vessel and guard ship in South Australian waters. She was paid off in July 1944. 

Navy had the Wongala slipped at Port Adelaide early in 1947 for a refit. The work included more accommodation, a new bridge and chartroom, a laboratory and a larger main engine. This engine would increase speed to 8½ knots and additional fuel capacity gave her a range of over 10,000 miles. The bridge, of course, was open. Lieutenant Commander Bill Cook, RAN joined in June 1947 as first lieutenant to prepare for the commissioning.  Wongala was renamed Wyatt Earp a month later and she was commissioned as HMAS Wyatt Earp in November. Bill Cook reflected later that she was probably the last of His Majesty’s ships to use sail. The refit completion was delayed by industrial disputes. 

The commissioning crew marched aboard whist she was still slipped. The commissioning ceremony included unslipping into the Torrens River. Regrettably, Wyatt Earp collided with a freighter across the river.  Wyatt Earp’s CO was Commander Karl Oom, OBE, RAN, then the RAN hydrographer. As a hydrographer he had sailed with Mawson in 1930-31. A Perth survivor, Lieutenant Norman (Knocker) White, RAN, was the navigator. The engineer officer was Lieutenant Commander Harold Irwin, RANR(S) and Lieutenant Jock Yule, RAN was the third watchkeeper. The ship’s company included 23 senior and junior ratings, many of whom had sailed with Commander Oom in HMAS Warrego, his recent command. There were eight supernumeraries under the eye of Group Captain Stuart Campbell, RAAF, Rtd. He had been Mawson’s pilot in the 1930s. His charges included Dr Philip Law, chief scientist and Squadron Leader Robin Gray, DFC, RAAF, pilot for the Kingfisher floatplane.

HMAS Wyatt Earp was 41.4 m long and drew 4.6 m. She was 402 tons gross and conditions were basic. There was no refrigeration or water making facility and the stowage of victuals was so tight that the cook had to devise menus with what could be unstowed in the reverse order of stowing. The carcases of thirty sheep were stowed in a foredeck washroom in alternate layers of ice and sawdust. Wyatt Earp sailed for Williamstown on 13 December 1947. Without bilge keels, the ship rolled excessively. There were a few problems during this four-day voyage that was effectively the post refit trial – the main engine broke down, the gyro failed, the steering chain parted and a davit guy parted. In two days these little worries were rectified and the Kingfisher was taken aboard, allowing departure for Hobart. Farewells from Port Adelaide and Williamstown attracted ministers, senators and crowds. On sailing from Hobart on Boxing Day 1947 there were three men and three children to wave good-bye. The aims of the expedition included a reconnaissance landing for a scientific survey and to identify a suitable site for a permanent base. 

Further problems became evident on sailing. The gyro and the steering chain failed again and the stern gland began to overheat. Five days out, as they crossed the convergence, Harold Irwin reported that the stern gland was overheating unacceptably. He ascertained that the main engine and the propeller shaft were not aligned. To the dismay of all aboard, Wyatt Earp was ordered to return to Williamstown where she entered the Alfred Graving Dock for a month. These failings would have emerged during post refit trials. Because of the delayed refit completion, the post refit trials were abandoned to allow the ship to meet her sailing schedule. That schedule, of course, was determined by the Antarctic seasons. 

Wyatt Earp sailed south once more on 8 February 1948. Karl Oom forewarned that this departure, late in the season, would most likely preclude a landing. Indeed the delayed sailing saw the aims of the expedition reduced to examine the coastline and to land, if possible. On reaching the pack ice, it became evident that Wyatt Earp was not suited to moving through pack ice of any density. Indeed Philip Law later recorded, “as an icebreaker this ship was a gnat.” Although the coast near Commonwealth Bay was sighted, Wyatt Earp could not negotiate the pack ice safely. A short landing was made on one of the Balleny Islands and Robin Gray was able to make two test flights in the Kingfisher. Preparing the aircraft for hoisting over the side and subsequent recovery proved cumbersome. 

Karl Oom decided to head north on 16 March 1948 and return to Melbourne. Wyatt Earp touched at Macquarie Island on 31 March, where LST 3501 was anchored, having returned from Heard Island. Indeed, her expedition was successful, although not without incident. The parties she had landed at both Macquarie and Heard Islands would spend the next year ashore on those islands. They were Australia’s pathfinders in our continuing Antarctic research. Later in 1948 LST 3501 was renamed Labuan. Wyatt Earp entered Port Phillip on 31 March and was required to anchor off Geelong. The Navy had arranged an official welcome home at Port Melbourne for 1 April. Wyatt Earp was paid off in June and sold. Her new owners returned to Wongala as a name and she tramped the Australian coast. Later she was renamed Natone and continued on the coast until January 1959. During a storm she ran aground near Double Island Point lighthouse and was abandoned.

